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Chair David Eades

The ancient Chinese curse 'may you live in
interesting times' sums up the LMRF's year
under review. It is also ironic that China
provided the crucible for the COVID-19
virus which has become the curse amongst
us and the reason for so many changes in
our lives and businesses!

In the past year we have seen the impact of
COVID-19 manifest itself on our business,
some Board changes, a staff departure, the
development of strategic and operating
plans, a revision of the Foundation's
business model, solid progress with the
financials and continuing tweaking of
overheads.

Following the departure of the previous
Chair in July, I was elected by the Board to
the leadership role, for which I am both
grateful and humbled.

I do not underestimate the challenges

facing LMRF, which are probably the
greatest it has faced in its almost 60 -year
history.

The triple whammy of the sudden loss of
income from a waning Personality Quest,
the direct impacts of COVID-19 on
operations and the knock-on effects of
COVID on our constituent Lions Club's
fundraising abilities have all combined to
impact our forward financial projections.  

From a trading perspective the Foundation
remains solid and targeted expenditure
trimming, implementation of a number of
Board initiatives and the early success of a
recent bequest program have laid a
platform for a more stable financial future.

Added to this, our core business, the seed-
funding of emerging researchers, is
delivering success. Both of our current
Fellows are delivery positive outcomes with
Dr Olivia Holland making steady progress
with her work on gestational diabetes and
the recently promoted Associate Professor
Carlos Salomon's work on early ovarian
cancer detection reaching the exciting stage
of commencement of the clinical trial
phase.

As a part of its strategy the Board has
resolved to capitalise on this success by
adding adolescent health to its research
agenda in response to the growing impacts
of some diseases on the 10 to 24 year-old
cohort. These health issues included 
 cancers, obesity, diabetes, eating disorders, 

 
skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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My research is primarily aimed at targeting
this unmet goal through the use of small
extracellular vesicles (EV) known as
exosomes. EV are released from multiple
cells, including cancer cells, and have the
microenvironment, thus providing a
magnified view of an otherwise difficult-to-
access site. This capacity of exosomes
makes them an ideal biomarker to detect
changes in the ovary before the
appearance of physical symptoms
associated with advanced stage disease,
proposing exosomes as "liquid biopsies".
In the last 4 years, with the support of
LMRF, my group has developed a
biomarker panel that can identify women
with early-stage ovarian cancer with over
90% accuracy.

Ovarian cancer is one of the most lethal
women's cancers worldwide. Its high
mortality rate is often attributed to the
non-specific nature of early symptoms of
disease. Developing a better
understanding of disease progression and
identifying clinically useful biomarkers that
aid in clinical management are requisite to
reducing the mortality rate of ovarian
cancer. Reduced oxygen tension (i.e.
hypoxia) is not only a characteristic of
solid tumors but may also enhance the
metastatic capacity of tumors by inducing
the release of tumor growth promoting
factors. Recently , it has been proposed
that exosomes facilitate cancer
progression.

Recently, we have published  a study in the
journal Cancers, that established that sEs
produced under low oxygen tension
include a metabolic switch in ovarian
cancer cells associated with changes in
glycolytic pathway proteins that promote
resistance to carboplatin. Significantly, we
identified a suite of sEV-associated
glycolysis pathway proteins that are
present in patients with ovarian cancer
that can predict disease recurrence with
90% accuracy.

Our research, and the resulting impact for
the research community, has been very
strong thanks to the generous support of
the Queensland and Northern NSW Lions
Medical Research Foundation 

I am happy to report that I have now
obtained research grants from the Medical
Research Future Funding (MRFF), that will
allow us to validate the early diagnostic
test and initiate the implementation in
clinical practice. My research is now
expanding, thanks to a $2.7 million funding
boost from the MRFF. This grant will allow
further challenge the accuracy of this test
with a much larger trial - an essential next
step in the research process. In the next 4
years we will trial the test on 4000 samples
from the largest screening study to date, 
 the UK Collaborative Trial of Ovarian
Cancer Screening. 

Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill
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Dr Olivia Holland PsyD, MSc, BSc Bio

important disorder and to improve the
health of mothers and their children.

Our research has been well supported this
year, with nearly $175,000 in funding
awarded, including over $100,000 for
sophisticated new state of the art research
equipment that will be critical to our
continuing world-class investigations, and
over $70,000 towards our work that
addresses limitations in current medical
care and develops better ways to monitor
health during pregnancy.

It has been a busy year for scientific
conferences; I've presented three times
and attended seven conferences so far,
with more still to go. I have also been part
of organising our local Queensland
Perinatal Consortium Annual Conference
and Centre for Children's Health Research
Higher Degree by Research Student and
Early/Mid-Career Researchers 2021
Research Symposium Week. Although most
of the conferences have been virtual, they
have still been a great way to find out and
share the latest research. I'm especially
looking forward to the Australian
Physiological Society Annual Scientific
Meeting that will be held face to face at
Griffith University on the Gold Coast in
November.

The lab has grown this year, with two new
PhD students, two new Master's students,
an Honours student, and four
undergraduate students all working on

Thank you to the Lions Medical Research
Foundation for continuing to support my
research into gestational diabetes.
Gestational diabetes, the most common
serious pregnancy complication and it is
expected that rate will continue to rise. A
diagnosis of gestational can be distressing
for women and their families, with
gestational diabetes greatly increasing the
likelihood of dangerous pregnancy
complications and long-term health
problems, including making it much more
likely that both mother and child will
develop type 2 diabetes. Despite
gestational diabetes' importance, there is
limited understanding of why this disorder
makes pregnancy more dangerous and
how best to identify women at the greatest
risk of poorer outcomes. I study gestational
diabetes to better understand this

Nirajan Shrestha, Steven D Melvin,
Daniel R McKeating, Olivia J Holland,
James S M Cuffe, Anthony V Perkins,
Andrew J McAinch, Deanne H Hryciw
(2021) Sex-specific differences in lysine, 3
hyroxybutyric acid and acetic acid in
offspring exposed to maternal and
postnatal high linoleic acid diet,
independent of diet. International
Journal of Molecular Sciences, 22 (19):
10223, doi: 103390/ijms 221910223. 

research projects. I'm very proud of my
student Dr Nirajan Shrestha, who was
successfully awarded his PhD this year and
is now working how health during
pregnancy affects the health of the child at
the very prestigious Harvard University,
and also of my student Natalie Turner, who
was awarded her PhD Confirmation, which
demonstrates a successful first year of her
PhD.

Sunday 14th November, will be World
Diabetes Day, and I will be with my club,
the Lions Club of Gold Coast Tallebudgera
doing our Lap the Map event on the Gold
Coast to help raise money and awareness. 

I would like to thank all the Lions for their
support of this important health issue, and
for their support of my research through
the LMRF. With your support we can help
tackle this critical health issue and improve
many lives. 

Scientific publications in peer reviewed
journals in 2021

1.

2. Josif Vidimce, Johara Pillay, Nirajan
Shrestha, Lan-Feng Dong, Jiri Neuzil, Karl-
Heinz Wagner, Olivia J Holland, Andrew C
Bulmer (2021) Mitochondrial Function, Fatty
Acid Metabolism, and Body Composition in
the Hyperbilirubinemic Gunn Rat. Front
Pharmacol,12:586725.doi::10.3389/fphar.
2021.586715.
3. Nirajan Shrestha, Josif Vidimce, Olivia
Holland, James SM Cuffe, Belinda R Beck,
Anthony V Perkins, Andrew J McAinch,
Deanne H Hryciw (2021)  Maternal and
Postnatal High Linoleic Acid Diet Impacts
Lipid Metabolism in Adult Rat Offspring in a
Sex Specific Manner. Int J Mol Sci, 22(6):2946.
doi: 10.3390/ijms22062946
 4. Joshua J Fisher, Chelsea L Vanderpeet,
Lucy A Bartho, Daniel R McKeating, James S
M Cuffe, Olivia J Holland, Anthony V Perkins
(2021). Mitochondrial dysfunction in
placental trophoblast cells  experiencing
gestational diabetes mellitus. Journal of
Physiology, 599(4): 1291-1305. doi:
10.1113/JP280593.
5. Nirajan Shrestha, Simone L Sleep, Tessa J
Helman, Olivia J Holland, James SM Cuffe,
Anthony V Perkins, Andrew J McAinch, John
P Headrick, Deanne H Hryciw (2021.
Maternal diet high in linoleic acid alters
offspring fatty acids and cardiovascular
function in a rat model. Br J Nutr, 1-37. doi:
10.1017/S0007114521001276. 

Dr Olivia Holland PsyD, MSc, BSc Bio
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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Students Performing Advanced Research Qld

Gain hands-on experience in our state-
of-the-art PC2  biomedical research
laboratory
Attend cutting-edge biomedical science
research seminars
Learn valuable academic research
skills, and
Showcase their findings in a research
forum.

SPARQ-ed is a unique educational facility
established between the Department of
Education and the University of
Queensland. Our cutting-edge facility
features a fully equipped PC2 biomedical
teaching laboratory and learning centre,
located at the Translational Research
Institute (TRI) in Brisbane, providing school
students a practical introduction to
biomedical research.

The SPARQ-ed research immersion
program provides students with an
opportunity to work alongside a dynamic
group of scientists and like-minded peers
on pressing biomedical problems facing
society. The program is open to year 10, 11
and 12 students with an interest in STEM
throughout Queensland.

Over the 5-day program students:

Working in a team on a real research
project, students will use the latest
technology to examine, test and analyse
their results, then discuss findings with
world renowned university researchers
based at the Translational Research
Institute.

Students Performing Advanced Research Qld

12-16 April Dr J Gunawardana
(Lymphoma immunotherapy)
5-9 July Prof Brian Gabrielli (DNA repair
efficiency throughout the cell cycle)
12-16 July Prof Brian Gabrielli
13-17 September (Role of GFP in
Biomedical research)
20-24 September Prof Brian Gabrielli
(Timing of chemotherapy treatments)

At the end of their program students will
have the opportunity to complete two
written tasks which are used to assess their
suitability to receive an ATAR adjustment
factor for entry into selected programs at
UQ.

The SPARQ-ed team would like to thank
Lions Medical Research Foundation for its
continued support of the SPARQ-ed
program and importantly, for enabling the
attendance of our regional and remote
students. We had strong representation of
regional and remote students in all five
research immersions conducted, and
another group of students enrolled for our
final immersion for the year, to be held
between 29th November and 3rd
December 2021.

In total there have been 25 student
scholarships awarded in 2021 and through
the generous support of LMRF regional and
remote families have been able to access
this transformative educational experience,
without a financial burden.

We hosted LMRF Scholars at the following
immersions.

Central Queensland  - 11
Darling Downs Southwest - 2
Far North Queensland - 2
North Coast - 6
North Queensland - 1
South Coast - 3

As expected from SPARQ-ed events, the
students participated in complex and
challenging projects, exposing them to
cutting edge and state of the art
technologies. For students from diverse
locations and backgrounds, this is a
unique opportunity.

A total of 25 scholars were given the
opportunity to participate thanks to Lions
Medical Research Foundation (LMRF)

NEW Regional Professional
Development Workshop.
The SPARQ-ed team recently travelled to
Dalby (Darling Downs Southwest Region)
to deliver a special workshop for teachers
and Science technicians. This
transformative workshop has been
designed for teachers of Year 10 Science,
Year 11 and 12 Biology, however, could
also be used as an extension activity for
STEM specialist groups/classes. 

This workshop will support school staff in
implementing Biology, Chemistry,
Australian Curriculum Science and VET
courses essential to the professional
practice of teachers engaging students in
STEM. Participates will transform bacteria
cells with pGLO plasmid using simple
biotechnology techniques.
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include isolation, family disruption,
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HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 
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Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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efficiency throughout the cell cycle)
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13-17 September (Role of GFP in
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20-24 September Prof Brian Gabrielli
(Timing of chemotherapy treatments)
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have the opportunity to complete two
written tasks which are used to assess their
suitability to receive an ATAR adjustment
factor for entry into selected programs at
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students. We had strong representation of
regional and remote students in all five
research immersions conducted, and
another group of students enrolled for our
final immersion for the year, to be held
between 29th November and 3rd
December 2021.

In total there have been 25 student
scholarships awarded in 2021 and through
the generous support of LMRF regional and
remote families have been able to access
this transformative educational experience,
without a financial burden.

We hosted LMRF Scholars at the following
immersions.

Central Queensland  - 11
Darling Downs Southwest - 2
Far North Queensland - 2
North Coast - 6
North Queensland - 1
South Coast - 3

As expected from SPARQ-ed events, the
students participated in complex and
challenging projects, exposing them to
cutting edge and state of the art
technologies. For students from diverse
locations and backgrounds, this is a
unique opportunity.

A total of 25 scholars were given the
opportunity to participate thanks to Lions
Medical Research Foundation (LMRF)

NEW Regional Professional
Development Workshop.
The SPARQ-ed team recently travelled to
Dalby (Darling Downs Southwest Region)
to deliver a special workshop for teachers
and Science technicians. This
transformative workshop has been
designed for teachers of Year 10 Science,
Year 11 and 12 Biology, however, could
also be used as an extension activity for
STEM specialist groups/classes. 

This workshop will support school staff in
implementing Biology, Chemistry,
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courses essential to the professional
practice of teachers engaging students in
STEM. Participates will transform bacteria
cells with pGLO plasmid using simple
biotechnology techniques.
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Students Performing Advanced Research Qld
 be hindered by the thought of the costs
associated with studying for such a long
time. The Lions Medical Research
Foundation Scholarship has shown our
family that her dream is also the dream of
others in the community:

"Living in a small rural community has many
positives, but access to advanced STEM
opportunities is often limited to academic
students who are not living close to a large
city. To access apportion of his year 10
school year to attend the SPARQ-ed program
in Brisbane. Not only were we offered a
place on the program, but also the
opportunity to apply for an LMRF
scholarship to support the financial costs of
attending the week-long program. We were
very fortunate to be awarded the full
scholarship which was a significant financial
support in our accommodation for the week.
We were very appreciative of the scholarship
and the unique opportunity that is offered
to rural and remote students, and sincerely
thank you for your generosity. The
experience Sam had at the SPARQ-ed
program has been instrumental in his
passion for the scientific world and his
subject choices for 2021. Sam was exposed
to state-of-the-art research facilities,
educators and researchers who are leaders
in the field – an experience he could never
have had without this support. Sam’s
decision to pursue a medical career and
interest in research and development was
further sparked through the SPARQ-ed
program…a unique experience that opened
this rural student’s eyes!”

SPARQ-ed feedback from a student:

"Being able to experience this hands-on,
resonates with someone and has
ultimately led me to looking into an
occupation in medical research.
Furthermore, the fact that I was
surrounded by like-minded people; the
professors, tutors, and students, helped in
creating this atmosphere that I wanted to
be a part of in the future. It created an
environment of development, leadership,
and teamwork, which would help students
to understand where they thrive in a team:
Year 11 student, April 2021.

SPARQ-ed feedback from a scholarship
family: 

"It will allow her to explore a passion that
would have been difficult to achieve
without funding. When you are 15,
dreaming of a future in medicine can often
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Our biggest
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Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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Prof. Ian Frazer Humanitarian Award
91.Gregory Adams
92.Bronwyn Newman
93. Peter Donghi
94. Joyce Emmett
95.Grahame J Bonamy
96. John Cusack
97. Frank Beecher
98. Geoff Gaylard
99.Margaret Mary Miller
100. Surendra Prasad
101. Kaye Smith
102. David Knowles
103. Rob Craig
104. Christine Mellor
105. Mervyn Thorn
106. Margaret Wearne
107. Dell Boyd
108. Nikita Reed
109. Narelle Parkins
110. Tony Smith
111. Neil & Judy Kennedy
112. Aust Computer Traders
113. Wiley & Co. Pty Ltd
114. Formula Interiors
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
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the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,
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liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
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It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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10. Peter Brown
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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20. Irene Dunning
21. Lionel & Betty Frame
22. Norman Shrubsole
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24. Bob Free
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28. Reg Kuchler
29. Bill Lane
30. Elvie Templeton-Ditchburn
31. Bill Freeman
32. Colin C Gregory
33. Ronald J Crawford
34. Dr John Ohlrich
35. Oswald Young

36. Donald R Pitceathly
37. Allan D Low
38. Merri Rose
39. Daphne McDonald
40. Sue Robbins
41. Bob Butterfield
42. Harry Stibbard
43. Arthur Hingst
44. Tom Abraham   
45. Bert Morton

46. Bill Fritz
47. Arthur John Francis
48. Norman Richard Jensen
49. Shirley Willmot
50. John Slater 
51.  Hugh Cullen
52.  Greg Tutt
53.  Joanne Hutana
54.  Alan McKenzie
55.  Prof Bryan Emmerson
56.  Dennis Kenyon
57.  John Orford
58.  Prof Don Cameron
59.  Ted Grohn
60.  Lorraine Keane
61.  Nadine Kelly
62.  Barry Hough
63.  David Millar
64.  Bevin Barsby
65.  Dr Eric Guazzo
66.  Warwick Venables
67.  Dr David Nimmo
68.  Russell Sauer
69.  Stanley G Corone
70.  Robert Cumming

71.  John G Elliott
72.  Frank Laver
73.  John Leckey
74.  Rudi Roessgen
75.  Antonio Sallese
76.  Ray D Smith
77.  Benjamin E Tilley
78.  Ron Osborne
79.  George Hawker
80.  Peter John Fenton
81.  Ken Scells
82.  George Anderson
83.  Warren Gavin
84.  Norm Alcock
85.  Bob Goldsworthy
86.  Barry Apps
87.  Pat Eagle
88.  Ian Chase
89.  George Cossart
90.  Richard Sumner

91.  Cameron Taylor
92.  Noel Squire
93.   Rhonda McKinnon
94.  Bill Lehfeldt
95.  Bruce Taylor
96.  William Leech
97.  Greg Packer
98.  Trevor Calley
99.  Stan Felsman
100. John Wearne
101. Les & Lee Boby
102. Peter Kiernan
103. Norman Unstead
104. Garry Kerwin
105. Bob Morgan

106. David Rees
107. Leon Harker
108. Bert de Krom
109. Bribie Island Auxiliary
110. Elizabeth Heber
111. Kevin Williams
112. Des Cook
113. Les Dawson
114. Kerry Wright
115. John Hardgrave
116. Peter Maraun
117. Jill Dungey
118. Bernie Scobie
119. Lorraine McKenzie
120. David McKenzie
121. Tony Cornell
122. Jean Trickett
123. Ian Ryan
124. Max Christensen
125. Graeme Lancaster
126. Sue & Gordon Cooper
127. Trevor Raatz
128. Marianne Gayton
129. Patricia Lumsdale
130. James Tray
131. Ken Folliott
132. Reg Brayley
133. Felicity McIntosh 
134. Neville Black
135. Lesley Reading

136. Geoff Budden
137. Raine & Horne Tweed Heads
138. Elsie Andrews
139. Robert Jempson
140. Noel Charles Brady
141. Ashley Burns
142. Wilson Thomsen
143. George Bogiatzis
144. Betty Walker
145. Graham & Gwen Christensen
146. Mervyn Russell Symons
147. Peter Kidston
148. Jack Mordue
149. Fred Bullock
150. Kerry Naumann
151. Trevor Matthews
152. Stuart Holden
153. Ray & Dorothy King
154. Ann Butler
155. Jack Dunning
156. LL Jennifer Scarborough
157. Les Dawson
158. Len Murray
159. Elina Siltala
160. Peter Dean
161. John William Wright
162. James Bernard Smith
163. LL Louise Cummings
164. LL Irene Creber
165. Margaret Goldson
166. Roy McKinnon
167. Keith Cooper
168. Warren McLucas
169. Hervey Bay Hotel
170. Graham Swadling
171. Lion Prof Ian Frazer
172. Rob Johnson
173. Patrick Allport
174. Jim Smith
175. Joan Rodgers
176. John O’Donnell
177. Jack Ryan
178. Doss Cunnington
179. Pastor Jock Bamford
180. Ean Schofieldaw
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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186. Len Walker
187. Penny’s Boutique
188. Eric Mills
189. Gwen Tyson
190. Mary Phillips
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197. Pines Shopping Centre
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199. Fred Hurtle
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202. Kaye Smith
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206. Noel Myers
207. Lola McLaughlan
208. Surendra Prasad
209. Winston Fraser
210. Chris Lintott
211. Peter Handy
212. David Lyons
213. Clyde Nicoll
214. Lindsay Ditchburn
215. Des Ward
216. Sonja Goodwin
217. Darrel Belcher
218. Betty Ainsworth
219. Judith McKenzie
220. Jeff Trouton
221. Garth Stubbins
222. Madeleine Dind
223. Pamela Dixon
224. Joan Adcock
225. Ian Daniells

226. Frank Dunn
227. Keith Caldicott
228. Kerry Johnson
229. Brian Faulkner
230. Bruce Mellor
231. Ken Peters
232. Allan Short
233. Rick Bichsel
234. Dr David Farlow
235. Ellen Walker
236. Joy Wise
237. Phyllis Hicks
238. Norman Jessen
239. Patricia Bowman
240. Heather Boyle
241. Betty Floyd
242. Pauline Taylor
243. George Portbury  
244. Paula Davoren
245. Nola Murray
246. Mal Leslie
247. Judy Jamieson
248. George Type
249. Artie Rentoul
250. Rev Dr Wayne Melrose
251. Bev Fraser
252. John Spriggs
253. Robert Dove
254. Baska Desha
255. Murray Neuendorf
256. Chris Richardson
257. Doug Fraser
258. Dennis Love
259. Ray Singer
260. Eileen Smith
261. Colin Carr
262. Norma Buchanan
263. Betty Reading
264. Bruce Ede
265. Brian Brebner
266. Kym Hyson
267. Peter Boge
268. Glen Christensen
269. Georgina Stassi
270. John Flynn Hospital

271. Jason Walker
272. Doreen Dillaway
273. Keith Fleming
274. Peter Garrett
275. Merv Rose

276. Doug Hargrave
277. Sam Schwarzrock
278. Don Harrison
279. Wendy Drysdale
280. Jeffrey Drysdale
281. Ian Bruning
282. Lesley Lyons
283. Bevan Faulkner
284. John Plumridge
285. Terry Daniel
286. Edmond Lau
287. Cyril Ng
288. Johnson Kwok Tung Yau
289. Ronald Alexander
290. Alan Carpenter
291. Anne Fitzgerald
292. Mary Murphy
293. Rick Grinsell
294. Anthony Reading
295. Tony Cornell
296. Annette Mulcahy
297. Faust Giacobone
298. Peter Donghi
299. Joyce Donghi
300. Rosemary Day
301. George Pohlmann
302. Mervyn Eadie
303. John Maxwell Johnson
304. George Martin
305. Joan Chamberlain
306. Geoff Davis
307. Louise Davis
308. Ken Mulcahy
309. Steve Ogle
310. Graham Quirk
311. Robert Zee
312. Jennifer Perkins
313. Michael Keim
314. Bill Hendy
315. Boyd Evans

316. Peter Wilson
317. Margaret Organ
318. Jim Wilson
319. Tric Smith
320. Andrew Glasson
321. Des Rooker
322. Gaye Kirby
323. Graham Letchford
324. Kathleen Lynch
325. Ted Heyes
326. Colin Sinclair
327. Bryan Shaw
328. Rachael Davey
329. Ken Carlson
330. Fiona McLeod
331. Melinda McInturff
332. Kate Wall
333. Helen Hynd
334. Lyn Alexander
335. Di Pyers
336. Helen Govan
337. Peter Hodgson
338. Kay Becker
339. Bernadette Harris
340. Alan John Downes
341. John Barry Everingham
342. Glenys Marshall
343. Bob Chamberlain
344. Ray Donaldson
345. Chris McIntyre
346. John Lamberth
347. David Dempster
348. Peter Richards
349. Mayleen Green
350. Mark Gamble
351. Mike Bonoguore
352. Tony Hodgson
353. Narelle Parkins
354. Bruce Harper
355. John Denyer
356. Philippa Denyer
357. Maryann Crozier
358.Carolyn Dyer
359. Peter Ho
360. Ron Walton
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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437. John & Jan Jensen
438. Ray Sinclair
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440. Joan Macrow
441. Frank Henry Wilson
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445. Gavin Tansey
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462. Richard Dennis
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476. Anthony Von Einhem
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502. Susan & Grahame Legge
503. Hestra Riley
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505. Richard Glasson
506. Greg Nothling
507. John & Wendy O’Connell
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511. Sandra Smith  
512. Kevin Greensill 
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514. Ian Bigg
515. Cheryl Tyler
516. Shirley Harvey
517. Susie Green    
518. Joy Bonoguore
519. Ken Freney
520. Bruce Myers
521. Rachel Pearson
522. Margaret Phillips
523. Nicole Phillips
524. Maree Ramsey
525. Glenn E Atkinson
526. Colin Mibus
527. Peter Greer
528. Terence Hitchman
529. Barry Rodgers
530. Jennie Cox
531. Michael Pope
532. Dennis Wogan
533. Sally Baumber
534. Phillip Johnston
535. David Cane
536. Darryl Sytsma
537. Glenn E Shipway
538. Neil G Tyler
539. John Whitlock
540. Leon Darmodyaw
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades

www.lionsmedicalresearchfoundation.org.au      ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21

re
se

ar
ch

er
 r

ep
or

t
Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Community Service Award
1. Robyn Neilson
2. Tim & Paula Watson
3. Owen Capon
4. Allen Wiltshire
5. Ray Gates
6. Barry Standing
7. Malcolm Scott
8. Karen McGee
9. Carrolyn Petrucci
10. Robert Burns
11. Phillip O'Keefe
12. Timothy McCormick
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14. Paul Baguly
15. Norm Traves
16. Chris Cosier
17. Keith Weisse
18. Kathy McCosker
19. Des Burke
20. Reg Alley
21. Eddie Morey
22. Jill Hopson
23. Tonita Williams
24. Narelle Wyvill-Anstey
25. Jeffrey Drysdale
26. Volla Atmeh
27. Michael Cosgrove
28. Phil Henley
29. Michel Handley
30. Rick Hufton
31. Joy Tate
32. Joyce La Budda
33. Margaret Weatherhog
34. Lawrie West
35. George Cossart

36. Julie Gardner
37. Cr Marhie Ryder
38. Rhonda Schwartz
39. Faye Thomson
40. Anne Lloyd
41. Maree Ryan
42. Gary Lawson
43. Bob (John) Chamberlain
44. Patrick Allport
45. Kathlyn McCarthy

46. Olly (Maartie) Gibbins
47. Kenneth Mulcahy
48. Ronald Ould
49. Tania Rooney
50. Tony Stevenson
51. Kerry Johnston
52. Diane & Bill Parsons
53. Joe Grima
54. Steve Evans
55. Denise Fitzgerald
56. Alison Lucas
57. Cathy May
58. Rondey Toro
59. Greg Milham
60. Vicky Milham
61. Trevor Watts
62. Wanita Nicols
63. Simeon Tinsley
64. Gerri Woods
65. Kenny Ma
66. Samuel Yang
67. Josephine Chi
68. Levanna Lam
69. Jennifer Greer
70. Cynthia Witheyman

71. Gloria Cavanagh
72. Margaret Kennedy
73. Anne Barden
74. June Spencer
75. Samantha Tindall
76. Yvonne Tui
77. Denise Cran
78. Dorne Cawte
79. Leanne Jones
80. Sam Leotta
81. Toowoomba Wilsonton LC
82. Roma Lions Club
83. Reay Tuck
84. John Meyer
85. Kim Howland
86. Clint Withers
87. Brian Healy
88. Angel Callum
89. Natalie Rachel
90. Julie Bishop

91. David Leggett
92. Karen Taylor
93. Roy & Julie Waller
94. Barbara Clifford
95. Sue Galton
96. Shirley Craig
97. Geoff Ferguson
98. St George Freightlines
99. Rosemary Archer
100. Raquel Moores
101.Dulcie Bichsel
102. Carolyn Willersdorf
103. Diane Swan
104. Louise Willersdorf
105. Lorraine McKenzie

106. Savva Argyrou
107. Bonita Guilford
108. Lions Club Zhong Hua
109. Cheryle Tyler
110. Raymond Krause
111. Norman Smith
112. Paul Drake
113. Liz Drake
114. Lindsay Green
115. John Keays
116. Austin Lanphier
117. John Muller
118. Carolyn Wilson
119. Neil O’Sullivan
120. Mary Phillips
121. George Stewart
122. Rick Kenny
123. Brian Brebner
124. Queenie Fung
125. John Davis
126. Derek Humphrey
127. Barbara Clifford
128. David Wilman
129. Karen & Bart McGee
130. Alan & Carolyn Brown
131. Sylvia Sylvester
132. Chris Doyle
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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The late Clare Webley 

Beautiful rose for a beautiful lady.

Clare Webley is unknown to me, but
Lions Medical Research and the
wonderful work it does was known to
Clare. It was with utmost surprise, after
answering the telephone to be advised
that this beautiful lady had left a
substantial legacy to our Foundation. 

Thanks to a most generous donation
from this lady’s last will and testament
the Foundation can continue to do what
it does best. And that is research.
Research into illnesses and debilitating
diseases that not so many years ago we
would not have thought possible to
cure. 

Whichever illness that took this lovely
lady’s life may have been too late for
her, but with her legacy she knows that
she will be saving lives of the future.

Vale Clare and Rest in Peace – Thank
you for your legacy

You too can help to fund a bio-medical
researcher and save lives. Telephone the
office for details on Bequests and Legacy

giving. 3832 1688 or info@lmrf.org.au

be
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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Lion Maree Meagher was a dedicated Lion
with the Lions Club of Southport Qld, where
nothing was ever too much to ask. She was
a member of Lions Club International until
her passing on the 8th of September 2020.
During Maree's time with the Southport
Lions Club, she was held with the highest
esteem by all she came in contact with. Her
passing was a very sad day to all and she
will be forever missed.

The Lions Medical Research Foundation
would like to pay our greatest respects to a
wonderful lady and to sincerely thank her
for the work she did for others and the
work in medical research.

Due to the wonderful gift Maree gave to
LMRF in her Will, she will not only be
helping those in need, but her lasting gift
will help provide life-changing medical
research for cures across many illnesses
and for many years.

The late Maree Meagher
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Queensland and Northern New South Wales Lions Medical Research Foundation  
Responsible Persons Report – for year ended 30 June 2021 

The responsible persons present their report, together with the financial statements, on 
the company for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

Responsible Persons 
The following persons were responsible persons of the company during the whole of the financial 
year and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

Allan Turner - retired 15/11/2020 
David Charles Eades 
Donald (John) Holliday 
Gary Francis Kenny 
Dr Grace Kah-Lye Lai - resigned 16/12/2020 
Katherine McCosker 
Paul Ryan - appointed 15/11/2020 
Penny Kourra 
Robert Bland - appointed 18/08/2020 
Ross Gibbins - appointed 19/01/2021 
Narelle Parkins (Company Secretary) - retired 15/09/2020 (acting in role until 06/01/2021) 
Ross Gibbins (Company Secretary) - appointed 06/01/2021 
Dr Kee Cheung (Company Treasurer) 

Principal activities 
The principal activity of the company during the financial year was raising funds for continuing 

and new medical research projects. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the year. 

Trading result 
The loss/deficit for the 2021 year was $44,578 (2020: $180,698 loss/deficit). 

Short term objectives 
The entity’s short-term objectives are to: 
 Increase income from all sources. 
 Investigate and implement different methods of fundraising. 
 Raise the profile of the Foundation in the general and business communities. 

Long term objectives 
The entity’s long-term objectives are to: 
 Develop strategies and plans for responsibilities, delegation, marketing, risk, and succession. 
 Effectively implement the revised governance format in accordance with recent 

constitutional changes. 

 Ensure compliance with government legislation. 

 Continue supporting medical research in accordance with the constitution. 

Strategy for achieving short- and long-term objectives 
To achieve these objectives, the entity had adopted the following strategies: 
 Risk management. 
 Financial management. 
 Governance and succession. 
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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 Marketing plan.

Key performance measures 
The entity measures its own performance using both quantitative and qualitative benchmarks. 
The benchmarks are used by the responsible persons to assess the financial sustainability of the 
entity and whether the entity’s short term and long-term objectives are being achieved. 

Information on Responsible Persons 

Name Allan Turner 

Title Responsible Person/Director - retired 15 November 2020 

Qualifications Diploma in Business Management 
Marketing Degree 
Associate Diploma Industrial Law & Industrial Relations 
Diploma in Communications 

Experience and 
expertise 

Retired 
25 years Station Master Qld Rail 
2 years Military service 
10 years State Manager Mayne Nickless Transport 
14 years Senior Business Development Manager for Fowles/Manheim 
Auctions & Remarketing 
Member of Lions, Rotary, Toastmasters, Rural Youth. 
President of Q3 in 2015 

Special 
Responsibilities 

Create Marketing Plan, Business Plan and budget for Sales and Marketing 
with aim to grow the LMRF through public speaking and assisting with 
marketing ideas. 
Responsible person since 2014 
Deputy Chairman 
Appointed Chairman November 2017. Resigned as Chair 24 November 2019 
Retired from the Foundation 15 November 2020  

Name David Charles Eades 

Title Responsible Person/Director 

Qualifications Senior Management Program 
Master of Business Administration 
Graduate Diploma in Urban Estates Management 
Certificate in Real Estate Valuation 

Experience and 
expertise 

Retired 
2 years Chief Executive Officer for Queensland Residential 
Tenancies Authority, Brisbane 
5 years Director Infrastructure and Economics for Price Waterhouse Coopers 
10 years National Director Consulting Valuation and Estate Services for 
Knight Frank 
Former Adjunct Professor, Faculty of Business at University of the 
Sunshine Coast 

Past member and chair for Queensland Heritage Council 
Past State and National President for Australian Property Institute Non-
Executive Director for Multicap Queensland, South Bank Corporation, Ks for 
Country Kids Inc 
15 years Managing Director for Australia Property Advisory No. 2 Pty 
Ltd Returned Serviceman (Army Vietnam) 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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  Former member of Australia Institute of Company Directors 
  Life Fellow of Australia Property Institute 

  Current member and Secretary of Sandstone Lions Club 

  Current Advisor to Lions Youth Emergency Accommodation Centre 

  Committee 

Special Responsible person representing Q3 
Responsibilities Appointed 23 November 2019 AGM 

 

Name Donald (John) Holliday 
Title Responsible Person/Director - Chairman 

Qualifications Diploma Events Management 
Experience and 
expertise 

Retired 
Civil marriage/funeral celebrant 
Military service 
Alumni Barwon Community Leaders Geelong 
Past Chairman Neighbourhood House - City of Greater Geelong 
Current Zone Chairman Lions Q2 
Current Secretary for Rollingstone & District Lions Club 

Special 
Responsibilities 

Responsible person representing Q2 
Appointed Chairman by election 24 November 2019 and 15 November 2020 
AGM  

Name Gary Francis Kenny 
Title Responsible Person/Director 

Qualifications Graduate of the Advanced Lions Leadership Institute 
Experience and 
expertise 

Retired 
Past District Governor for Lions District 201Q2 
Represented both Zone and the District in various positions 
Director of Corporate Services Mackay Health Service District 
Assistant Regional Director (Finance and Administration) for Mackay Regional 
Health Authority 
Director of Corporate Services Mackay Base Hospital 
Assistant Manager Chermside Hospitals Board and Royal Children’s Hospital 
Manager Dalby Hospitals Board and Tully Hospitals Board 

Special 
Responsibilities 

Responsible person representing Q2  
Appointed 23 November 2019 AGM  

Name Dr Grace Kah-Lye Lai 

Title Responsible Person/Director - resigned 16 December 2020 

Qualifications PhD 
Bachelor of Information Technology (Cooperative Scholarship Program) 
Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS) 
Foundations of Directorship Program with the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors 
Certificate Managerial Finance 

Experience and 
expertise 

Currently Strategy and Operations Advisory for Startups and Scaleups in 
Healthcare and Technology for Nectar Brands Pty Ltd 
Current CEO of Gyrilla Investments Group 
Current COO of Coastal Dental Care 
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Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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  5 years Managing Director for Periop Partners Pty Ltd 
  3 years Co-Author of Medical Business Management 

  7 years Founder and Director of Be Your Own Pty Ltd 

  6 years Founder of Global Goddess Project 

  4 years Medical/Surgery Residency for Prince of Wales Hospital, Sydney; 

  Royal Hobart Hospital and Royal Melbourne Hospital 
  1 year Manager sales and Brand Manager for Computer Associates 

  2 years Senior Industry Analyst for IDC 

Special Responsible person representing Q1 
Responsibilities Appointed 23 November 2019 AGM – resigned 16 December 2020 

 

Name Katherine McCosker 

Title Responsible Person/Director - Deputy Chairman 

Qualifications Cert IV Small Business - Hairdressing  
Cert III Micro Business 

Experience and 
expertise 

Current owner of Hairdressing business for 18+ years 
Served as Lions Club President, Treasurer and Fundraising Chairman 
Multiple District Chairperson for LMRF Personality Quest 
Lioness Liaison Officer 

Special 
Responsibilities 

Responsible person representing Q4 
Appointed 11 November 2017 AGM 
Appointed Deputy Chairman by election 24 November 2019 AGM and re-  
elected 15 November 2020 AGM  

Name Paul Ryan 
Title Responsible Person/Director 

Qualifications Finance and banking 
Experience and 
expertise 

Banking and Financial planning 
Mortgage broking 
Owns and operates a Property Maintenance and Landscaping business 
Lions Club member for 20+ years 
Has held all key Board positions in his Lions Club 
LMRF Ambassador for 3 years 

Special 
Responsibilities 

Responsible person representing Q3  
Appointed at 15 November 2020 AGM  

Name Penny Kourra 
Title Responsible Person/Director 

Qualifications Diploma/Bachelor of Education/Administration Teaching 
Experience and 
expertise 

Volunteer Prince Charles Hospital/Lady Cilento functions 
President Qld Association of Teachers of English to Speakers of Other 
Languages (QATESOL) 
President Apple Mac Lions Club 
Chairperson for Lions Medical Research Foundation Personality Quest 
Served on District Cabinet as project chair roles and minutes secretary 

Special 
Responsibilities 

Responsible person representing Q1 
Appointed 11 November 2017 AGM; Re-appointed 15 November 2020 AGM 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Name Robert Bland 

Title Responsible Person/Director 

Qualifications Retired Soils Civil Engineer 
Experience and 
expertise 

Volunteered for various service organisations since 1969 
Served Rural Youth programs 
Member of Rotaract becoming Treasurer and President  
Member of Lions Club for 7+ years – served as President  
Fund raising for Leukaemia Foundation 

Special 
Responsibilities 

Responsible person representing Q4 
Appointed at Board meeting of 18 August 2020 to fill casual vacancy  

Name Ross Gibbins 

Title Responsible Person/Director 

Qualifications Master of Business Administration – Technology Management 
2010 Bachelor of Engineering (Civil) 1979 

Certified Practising Engineer – Australia + APEC 
Corporate Member, Institution of Engineers, Australia since 
1981 Justice of the Peace (Qualified) QLD – appointed October 
1981 Member of the QLD Justices Association since 1981 

Experience and 
expertise 

Current Manager Business Development – Nth America for Thiess Pty Ltd 
Business and Project Development professional for 25+ years 
Engineering professional for 45+ years 
Past District Governor – Lions District 201Q1 – 2013 to 2014 
Marketing Manager, Lions Australia – 2004 to 2008 
MD201 Chairman – Lions Christmas Cake & Pudding Program – 2009 to 2011 
District 201Q1 Cabinet – various Chair positions 1999 to 2021 
Lions Club President on 4 occasions in Australia and Indonesia 
Director – Somerville House Foundation 2013 to 2016 
AICD – Governance Foundations for Not-for-Profit Directors 

Special 
Responsibilities 

Appointed at 15 December 2020 Board meeting to commence 6 January 
2021 as Company Secretary 
Responsible person representing District Q1 appointed at the 19 January 
2021 Board meeting to fill a casual vacancy (vacated by Grace Lai) 

 

Company secretary 
Narelle Parkins has held the role of Company Secretary since 28 November 2014 and resigned as 
Company Secretary at the 15 September 2020 AGM. The position remained vacant until Ross 
Gibbins was appointed at the 15 December 2020 Board meeting. 

Company Treasurer 
Dr Kee Cheung has held the role of Company Treasurer since 28 February 2019 
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Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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Meetings of responsible persons 
The number of meetings of the company's responsible persons ('the Board') held during the year 
ended 30 June 2021, and the number of meetings attended by each responsible person were: 

Full Board

Q District Attended Eligible to 
attend 

Held*

Allan Turner Q3  3  4  4 

David Eades  Q3  10  12  12 

Donald (John) Holliday  Q2  10  12  12 

Gary Kenny Q2  10  12  12 

Grace Lai  Q1  5  6  6 

Katherine McCosker  Q4  11  12  12 

Paul Ryan  Q3  7  7  7 

Penny Kourra  Q1  10  12  12 

Robert Bland Q4  6  4  10 

Ross Gibbins  Q1  5  5  5 

Ross Gibbins (Company Secretary)  6  6  6 

Kee Cheung (Company Treasurer)  9  12  12 

Narelle Parkins (Company Secretary)  6  6  6 

Narelle Parkins (Exec.Manager by invitation  5  6  6 

*Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the responsible person held office.

Contributions on winding up 
In the event of the company being wound up, ordinary members are required to contribute a 
maximum of $20 each. Honorary members are not required to contribute. As 30 June 2021 the 
number of members was 315. 

The total amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is wound 
up is $6,300 (2020: $6,120). 

Auditor's independence declaration 
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under s.60-40 of The Australian 
Charities and Not for Profit Commission Act 2012 is set out immediately after this responsible 
person’s report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Responsible Persons. 

…………………………………………………………………………… 
David Charles Eades 
Responsible Person/Director 

………………………………………………………………………….. 
Katherine McCosker 
Responsible Person/Director 

Date: 16/11/2021 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

As auditor for the audit of Queensland and Northern New South Wales Lions Medical Research 
Foundation for the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and 
belief, there have been: 

(i)  no contraventions of the independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-

profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

………………………………………. 
Chanelle Pienaar, CA 

Registered Company Auditor 

Brisbane 

Audit Assist Pty Ltd 

Dated: 22 November 2021 
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Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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QUEENSLAND AND NORTHERN NEW SOUTH WALES LIONS MEDICAL 
RESEARCH FOUNDATION 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

Contents 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
Statement of financial position 
Statement of changes in equity 
Statement of cash flows 
Notes to the financial statements 
Responsible Person’s declaration 
Independent auditor's report to the members of Queensland and Northern New 
South Wales Lions Medical Research Foundation 

General information 

The financial statements cover Queensland and Northern New South Wales Lions Medical Research 
Foundation, a company limited by guarantee as an individual entity. The financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars, which is the company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Queensland and Northern New South Wales Lions Medical Research Foundation is a not-for-profit unlisted 
public company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and 
principal place of business are: 

Registered office Principal place of business 

Unit 5 Portman Place  
220 Boundary Road  
Spring Hill Qld 4000 

Unit 5 Portman Place  
220 Boundary Road  
Spring Hill Qld 4000 

 

A description of the nature of the company's operations and its principal activities are included in the 
responsible persons’ report, which is not part of the financial statements. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of responsible persons, on 
. The responsible persons have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for year ended 30 June 2021 

  Notes 2021 2020 
Income       
Donations 4 265,562 108,744 
Fund Raising 4 38,988 23,184 
Interest 4 7,461 16,310 
Other 4 45,136 16,000 

Total Income   357,147 164,238 

Expenses       

Accounting and Bookkeeping Fees 5 616 6,827 
Audit Fees 5 2,900 2,900 
Board Governance expenses   3,385 956 
Consultancy expenses 5 0 12,770 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 5 9,459 9,247 
Employee expenses 5 99,086 84,148 
Fund raising expenses   37,920 22,620 
Insurance expenses   6,099 5,707 
Medical Research Grants and Commitments 5 200,000 175,000 
Occupancy expenses   8,774 9,989 
Office expenses   33,486 26,041 
Total Expenditure   401,725 356,205 
Deficit before income tax expense and other       
Comprehensive Income   (44,578) (191,967) 
Grant for Equipment Purposes     11,269 
Income tax expense 2 0 0 
Deficit after income tax expense for the year 
attributable to the members of Queensland and 

      

Northern New South Wales Lions Medical Research       
Foundation       

    (44,578) (180,698)  

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with  
the accompanying notes. 
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Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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Statement of Financial Position for year ended 30 June 2021 

  Notes 2021 2020 

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 6 616,277 445,468 
Investments – term deposits 7 200,000 400,000 
Trade and other receivables and prepayments 8 2,320 1,197 
Inventory 9 49,254 49,983 
Other 10 1,584 1,643 

Total current assets   869,435 898,291 

Non-current assets       

Property, plant and equipment 11,12 484,992 492,186 
Non-Current Term Deposits 7 0 0 
Total non-current assets   484,992 492,186 

Total assets   1,354,427 1,390,477 

Liabilities 

      

Current liabilities 
      

Trade and other payables 13 10,724 9,271 
Employee benefits 14 13,162 6,087 

Total current liabilities   23,886 15,358 

Total liabilities 

  

23,886 15,358 

Net assets   1,330,541 1,375,119 

Equity 

      

Asset Revaluation Reserve 15 271,132 271,132 
Accumulated Surpluses   1,103,987 1,284,685 
Current Year Deficit   (44,578) (180,698) 
Total equity   1,330,541 1,375,119  

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Statement of Changes in Equity for year ended 30 June 2021 

Note 

Retained 

Surplus 

$ 

Revaluation 

Reserve 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,284,685 271,132 1,555,817 

Comprehensive income 

Deficit for the year attributable to  

members of the entity -180,698 0 -180,698 

Other comprehensive income for the  

year 
      

Total comprehensive income 

attributable to members of the entity 

      

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,103,987 271,132 1,375,119 

Deficit for the year attributable to  

members of the entity -44,578 0 -44,578 

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,059,409 271,132 1,330,541  

Statement of Cash Flows for year ended 30 June 2021 

  Notes 2021 2020 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Receipts from fund raising and donations (inclusive of 
GST) 

  

306,686 157,709 
Government COVID-19 Job Keeper Payments Received   33,000 6,000 
Government COVID-19 Cash Subsidy   10,000 10,000 
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)   (384,073) (397,272) 

    (34,387) (223,563) 
Interest received   7,461 16,310 

Net cash from operating activities 
  

(26,926) (207,253) 

Cash flows from investing activities  
Payments for property, plant and equipment 

  

(2,265) (12,486) 
Proceeds of Equipment Grant   0 11,269 
Proceeds from investment redemptions   200,000 400,000 
Net cash used in investing activities   197,735 398,783 

Cash flows from financing activities 
  

0 0 

Net cash from financing activities 
  

0 0 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   170,809 191,530 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 

  

445,468 253,938 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year   616,277 445,468 
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Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,

ANNUAL REPORT 2020-21                     Lions Medical Research Foundation

FI
N
A
N
C
IA
LS



Notes the Financial Statements for year ended 30 June 2021 

The financial statements cover Queensland and Northern New South Wales Lions Medical Research 
Foundation (LMRF), as an individual entity, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Queensland and 
Northern New South Wales Lions Medical Research Foundation is a company limited by guarantee and is 
registered as a deductible gift recipient. 

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated.  

Note 1. Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements are special purpose financial statements prepared in order to satisfy the financial 
reporting requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. The responsible 
persons have determined that the Company is not a reporting entity. The company is a not-for-profit entity 
for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis, are 
based on historic costs, and do not take into account changing money values or, except where specifically 
stated, current valuations of non-current assets. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the mandatory Australian Accounting 
Standards applicable to entities reporting under the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012 and the following significant policies, which the responsible persons have determined are 
appropriate to meet the needs of members. Such accounting policies are consistent with those of previous 
periods unless otherwise stated. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to 
the nearest dollar. 

Note 2. Summary of significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Plant and equipment 

All assets acquired, including plant and equipment, are initially measured at their cost at the date of 
acquisition, being the fair value of the consideration provided plus incidental costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition, including costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use. Plant and equipment is carried 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

Expenditure on repairs and maintenance is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
each item of plant and equipment. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are 3–7 years. 

Plant and equipment are also assessed for any indicators of impairment each year. Further details 
on impairment calculations are provided in Note 9. 

( ) Investments 

Investments in managed share portfolios are financial assets classified as ‘held for trading’ and measured 
at fair value. They are classified as fair value through profit or loss, with directly attributable transaction 
costs recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Changes in the fair value of such assets, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 

(a) Leases 

Leases where LMRF, as lessee, does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
considered operating leases and not recognised on LMRF’s statement of financial position. Payments 
made under operating lease are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. 

(b) Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying values of its financial and non-financial assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset (being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of disposal 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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and its value in use) is compared to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value 
over its recoverable amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of a class of asset, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

(e) Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers and any outstanding grant receipts. 
Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as 
current assets. 

(f) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

(g) Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the reporting date for goods and 
services received by the Company which remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current 
liability with the amount normally being paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 

(h) Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as the result of a past event, LMRF has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow or economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the liability. 

(i) Employee benefits 

(i) Short-term benefits 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, annual leave, long service leave and other leave represent 
present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to the reporting date and are calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage rates that LMRF expects to pay within 12 months 
after reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax. 

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits 

LMRF’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is recognised and measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting 
date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through 
promotion and inflation have been taken into account. 

(iii) Superannuation contributions 

Liabilities in relation to contributions to superannuation funds (including defined contribution 
superannuation funds) are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when they are due. 

(j) Revenue recognition 

Sales revenue 
The core principle of AASB 15 is that revenue is recognised on a basis that reflects the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in 
exchange for those goods or services. Revenue is recognised by applying a five-step model as follows: 
1. Identify the contract with the customer 
2. Identify the performance obligations 
3. Determine the transaction price 
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 
5. Recognise revenue as and when control of the performance obligations is transferred 

Donations 
Donations are recognised at the time the pledge is made. 
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Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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Grants 
Amounts arising from grants in the scope of AASB 1058 are recognised at the assets fair value when the asset is 
received. LMRF considers whether there are any related liability or equity items associated with the asset which are 
recognised in accordance with the relevant accounting standard. 
Once the assets and liabilities have been recognised then income is recognised for any remaining asset value at the 
time that the asset is received. 

Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

Volunteer services 
The company has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other form of contribution 
received. As such, any related consumption or capitalisation of such resources received is also not recognised. 

All revenues are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of Goods and Services Tax 
(GST). 

(k) Investment income 

Investment income includes interest and dividend income earned on investments in managed share 
portfolios and interest income on other funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the 
effective interest method, which for floating rate financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. 

(l) Income tax 

No provision for income tax has been raised as the Company is exempt from income tax under Section 
505 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

(m) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 
presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 

(n) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not 
yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the company for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 
2020. The company has not yet assessed the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations. 

(o) Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed 
in the company's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be 
realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted 
from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other 
assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the company's normal operating 
cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
Assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and 
expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and 
on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the 
related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
(refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 

Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges 
for its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and 
amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, 
or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. 

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets The 
company assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the company and to the 
particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, 
which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 

Employee benefits provision 
As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months 
from the reporting date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the liability, 
estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account. 

Note 4. Revenue 

  2021 2020 

Revenue from Charitable Income and Fundraising  
Donations received 

    

Clubs - General 75,527 72,908 
Clubs – Special Appeals 24,050 25,123 
Public - In Memoriam 3,810 460 
Public - Donations 8,075 10,118 
Public – Bequests 154,100 135 
Fundraising     
Art Union 34,400 19,018 
Awards 0 1,500 
Functions and Events 1,154 100 
Sundry Fund Raising - Sales 3,434 2,566 
Sundry - Other 2,136   
Total Revenue from Charitable Income and     
Fundraising 306,686 131,928 

42

re
se

ar
ch

er
 r

ep
or

t
Associate Professor Carlos Salomon PhD, DMedSC, Mphill

Our biggest
challenge with
Ovarian Cancer is
the lack of tools to
detect the disease
at an early,
treatable stage."
 before the cancer has metastasised. The
focus of my current research is to validate
a biomarker assay that was developed in
our lab, for the early detection of epithelial
ovarian cancer through a blood test. 

An early detection test is essential to
raising the 5-year survival rate of ovarian
cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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Other revenue 
    

Interest 7,461 16,310 
Government Grants (COVID-19) 43,000 16,000 
Total other revenue 50,461 32,310 

Other Comprehensive Revenue 
    

Grant for Equipment Purchases 0 11,269 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ALL SOURCES 357,147 175,507 

Note 5. Expenses 

    

  2021 2020 
Deficit before income tax includes the following 
specific expenses: 

    

Auditor’s Remuneration     

Audit Services – general 2,900 2,900 
Total Auditor’s Remuneration 2,900 2,900 

Consultancy Expenses 
    

Other 0   
Total Consultancy Expenses 0   

Depreciation 
    

Land & Buildings 4,386 4,386 
Plant & Equipment & Furniture 5,073 4,861 
Total Depreciation & Amortisation 9,459 9,247 

Employee Expenses     
Salaries & Wages inc annual and personal leave 82,847 71,743 
Personal Leave expense 1,189 654 
Superannuation 7,932 8,374 
Work Cover 44 433 
Provision for Long Service Leave 773 6,020 
Provision for Annual Leave 6,301 -3,077 
Total Employee Expenses 99,086 84,147 

Medical Research Grants & Commitments     
Medical Research Grants 175,000 175,000 
SPAR Q Ed 25,000 0 
Total Research Grants & Commitments 200,000 175,000 

Note 6. Current assets - Cash and Cash Equivalents     

  2021 2010 
Cash on hand 300 300 
Cash at bank - unrestricted 615,977 445,168 

Total Cash and Cash equivalents 616,277 445,468 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
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My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
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Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 
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Note 7. Financial assets 

Held-to-maturity financial assets 
- Bank Term Deposits – maturing within 12 months 

Total Financial assets 

2021 

200,000 

2020 

400,000 

200,000 400,000 

Note 8. Current assets - Trade and Other Receivables 
2021 2020 

BAS receivable 2,496 1,197 

Total Cash and Cash equivalents 2,496 1,197 

Note 9. Inventories 
2021 2020 

At cost:     
Awards – Progressive – Silver/Diamond/Sapphire 43,714 45,146 
Awards – Bronze 2,532 2,522 
Awards – Frazer Badges 605 718 
Aprons 516 0 
Caps 1,282 0 
Roses 190 1,015 
T-Shirts 415 0 
LED Lights 0 252 
Books 0 330 
Total Inventories 49,254 49,983 

Note 10. Current Assets - Other 

2021 2020 
Accrued Interest on Investments 1,584 1,643 
Total Other current assets 1,584 1,643 

Note 11. Non-Current Assets – Property, Plant and Equipment 

    

  2021 2020 
Land and buildings – at cost 175,428 175,428 
Less: Accumulated depreciation -120,173 -115,787 
Sub-Total Land and buildings 55,255 59,641 
Add: Accumulated Net Fair Value Gains 415,973 415,973 
Total Land and Buildings 471,228 475,614 

Plant and equipment – at cost 58,521 52,784 
Less: Accumulated depreciation -44,757 -36,212 
Total Plant and Equipment 13,764 16,572 
TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 484,992 492,186 
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ovarian cancer through a blood test. 
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cancer patients. Therefore, my main goal is
to create a blood test that will diagnose the
most common form of ovarian cancer
(High Grade Serous) at its earliest and most
curable stage.

With the support of Lions Medical Research
(LMRF), I am conducting my research in a
manner that can lead to better outcomes
for women and being able to communicate
the outcomes to the wider community to
help bridge the gap between scientists and
society. 

A RAPID BLOOD TEST FOR EARLY
DETECTION OF OVARIAN CANCER.

Ovarian Cancer (OVCA) remains one of the
major causes of death for females
worldwide. Survival rates depend on
several factors, including tumour stage and
response to chemotherapy.

The biggest challenge in ovarian cancer is
not treatment, it is rather the lack of tools
to detect the disease at a treatable stage.
Unfortunately, a significant proportion of
women are often diagnosed with advanced
stage disease, where the 5-year survival
rate is approximately 20%, compared to
90% (when diagnosis is made at an early
stage of disease).

Therefore, there is an urgent clinical need
to develop techniques to identify OVCA,
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Note 12. Asset Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial 
year are set out below: 

  Land &  
Buildings 

Plant &  
Equipment 

Website 
Develop -
ment 

Total 
$ 

WDV 1 July 2019 475,614 16,572 0 492,186 
Additions 0 2,265 0 2,265 

Balance at 30 June 2020 475,614 18,837 0 494,451 
Depreciation expense -4,386 -5,073 0 -9,459 

Balance as at 30 June 2021 
        

471,228 13,764 0 484,992  

Note 13. Current liabilities – trade and other payables 

  2021 2020 
Accrued expenses 4,449 5,371 
GST Collected 176   
Superannuation Payable 3,727 2,652 
PAYG withholding 2,548 1,248 
Total Trade and other payables 10,900 9,271 

Note 14. Current Liabilities - Employee Benefits 

    

  2021 2020 

Provision for Annual Leave 6,369 67 
Provision for Long Service Leave 6,793 6,020 

Total Provision for employee benefits 13,162 6,087 

Note 15. Asset Revaluation Reserve 

    

  2021 2020 
A revaluation reserve records the revaluations of 
noncurrent assets. 

    

Business premises – revaluation 2012, 2016 and 2019 271,132 271,132 
Total Reserves 271,132 271,132 
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skin conditions and other diseases which
have dire consequences for youth and
their families. These consequences can
include isolation, family disruption,
depression, risky behaviours, substance
abuse and self-harm/suicide.

The organisation is also in discussion with
the University of Queensland in relation to
joint funding of an accelerated program of
work by Carlos to expedite the delivery of
his life-saving research to the market.

All this does not happen without the
ongoing support of our 201Q District
Governors and cabinets, for all of which my
Board is extremely grateful.

My thanks to my fellow Board members
who are reenergised, Narelle Parkins our
executive officer and the many volunteers
who assist the Foundation each and every
week.

The year saw the departure of several
Board members in Dr Grace Lai and John
Holliday and my thanks goes to them for
their contribution. I also welcome their
replacements in Past District Governor
Ross Gibbins who has stepped up to the
Company Secretary role (and capably led
our strategic planning process) and more
recently Aussie Lanphier from District Q2.

The Foundation has funded 57 Fellows
over its period of operation delivering life-
changing research in areas as diverse as
cord blood, human cornea storage,
diabetes, snake venom anti-coagulants,

HPV, cancers, mental illness, kidney and
liver disease, pre and neonatal care,
pharmacology, haematology,
epidemiology, neurology, immunology and
reproductive health. 

It is a constant wonder to me that, over the
years, these researchers have been
managed by a board of resolute volunteers
backed by an equally dedicated and
extensive list of volunteer Lions clubs
across northern NSW and Queensland.

The impact of lives, longevity and quality of
life that has been delivered by this
research is inestimable however, the lives
saved alone must run into the tens of
millions worldwide.

It is in this context that we look to the
future, a future that will see the
organisation back in the million-dollar
funding league, delivering the thing that
keeps us all motivated, the life-saving
breakthroughs, the quality-of-life outcomes
and above all, hope for the afflicted and
suffering.

It would also be remiss of me to not
remind those reading this report that the
LMRF awards offering has been expanded
to include a Professor Ian Frazer
Progressive award. This is one of the many
ways that Lions and the community
members they work with can be
recognised with for the contribution they
make in support of this research. 

Chair David Eades

Chair David Eades
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Note 16. Contingent liabilities and commitments 

2021 2020

 $ $

Estimates of the potential financial effect of contingent 
liabilities that may become payable: 

(a)The company has agreed to fund ongoing research 
projects past 30 June 2021. The future payments are 
dependent on: 

(i) audit of the research project showing that 
appropriate progress is being made at the 
required standard and 

(ii) the researcher not having obtained 
alternate funding. 

There is considerable uncertainty as to the amount of the 
liability. 

– Payable within 1 year 

– Payable later than 1 year 

191,667 225,000 

83,333 225,001 

275,000 450,001 
 

(b) There is a system of credits available for club donations and award purchases. At 30 June 2021 the total 
credits available to be claimed was $134,881. 

Note 17. Post-reporting date events 

No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred between the reporting date and the date of 
authorisation of the financial statements. 

Note 18. Reconciliation of deficit after income tax to net cash from operating activities 

  2021 2020 
Deficit before income tax expense for the year -44,578 -191,967 
Adjustments for Depreciation and amortisation 9,459 9,247 

  -35,119 -182,720 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables -1,299 916 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 729 269 
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 59 14,470 
Decrease/(increase) in accruals, trade and other payables 1,629 -42,907 
Decrease/(increase) in superannuation payable 0 2,652 
Decrease/(increase) employee benefits 7,075 67 

Net cash from operating activities -26,926 -207,253  
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Responsible Persons’ Declaration for year ended 30 June 2021 

Per section 60.15 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013 

The Responsible Persons declare that in the Responsible Persons’ opinion: 

(a) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts,
as and when they become due and payable; and

(b) the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profits Commission Act 2012.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profit Commission 
Regulation 2013. 

On behalf of the Responsible Persons 

___________________________________ 

Responsible Person/Director 

___________________________________ 
Responsible Person/Director 

Date:   1911/21
State:  Queensland 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the members of Queensland and Northern New South Wales Lions Medical Research 
Foundation 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Queensland and Northern New South Wales Lions 
Medical Research Foundation, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2021, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statement, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis of Qualified Opinion
section of our report, the accompanying financial report of Queensland and Northern New South 
Wales Lions Medical Research Foundation has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 of 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:  

(a)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of 
its performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1, and 
Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

In common with similar organisations it is not practical to maintain an effective system of control 
over revenue recognition and the system of credits available for club donations, therefore we are 
only able to audit receipts and club credits once they have been entered into the books of account 
and we may not detect where cash is received and is not included in the recorded income (2021: 
$357,147; 2020: $175,507) or where club credits (2021: $134,881) have been calculated 
inaccurately. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report 
in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The 
financial report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Company’s financial reporting 
responsibilities under the ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for 
another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives 
a true and fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the 
financial report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the ACNC Act and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting, from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by Company. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based, on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

............................... 
Chanelle Pienaar 
Audit Assist Pty Ltd 
Director 

Date: 22 November 2021 

Address: 28 Wallaby Street, North Lakes QLD 4509 
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